IN THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

Appellant Case No. 2012-213141

The State, Respondent

v.

Alphonso Chaves Thompson, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Scott
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
205 King Street, Suite 400 (29401)
P.O. Box 486
Charleston, SC 29402
PHONE: 843.577.9440
FACSIMILE: 843.414.8254
MScott@nexsenpruet.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense,
Appellate Division
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201-1589
PHONE: 803.734.1330
FACSIMILE: 803.734.1397
rdudek@sccid.sc.gov

Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

SEP 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress all fruits of an illegal search where the search warrant was supported by a woefully inadequate affidavit that failed to show the reliability of the informants, was based on stale information and conclusory statements, and failed to demonstrate why there was reason to believe drugs existed in the place to be searched?
2. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress his "confession" where that "confession" was coerced and flowed from an illegal arrest unsupported by probable cause?
3. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's directed verdict motion as to the weapons charge where the State produced no evidence of constructive possession or, in the alternative, did not establish that a sufficient nexus existed between any weapon and a violent offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a drug case involving a contested search warrant that originated in federal court under the direction of the United States Attorney's Office and the Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA"). (R. p. 8, l.25 – p.9, l.3). After the U.S. Attorney's Office dismissed this case, Appellant Alphonso Chaves Thompson was indicted by a Spartanburg County grand jury for trafficking cocaine more than 400 grams, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana. (R. p.11, ll. 5–11; pp. 356-58).

On January 23, 2012, Appellant's case proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. Following an extensive pre-trial suppression hearing, the trial court admitted into evidence drugs found during a search of Appellant's parents' home and certain statements Appellant made during the search. (R. pp. 6 – 92). Appellant was subsequently convicted on all three counts and the trial court sentenced him to concurrent sentences of twenty-five years', five years', and five years' imprisonment, respectively. (R. p.327, l. 7 – p.328, l. 24; p.330, ll. 5–21; pp. 360-62). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Introduction

In May 2010, Appellant was arrested and charged with trafficking cocaine, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p.8, ll.10–15; pp. 356-58). Appellant was charged with these crimes after drugs and guns were found during a search conducted at his parents' home located at 121 River Drive (the "River Drive Home")¹ in the Drayton community of Spartanburg, South Carolina. (R. p.35, ll.14–23; p.35, ll.18–23). At the time of the arrest, and for several years prior, Appellant lived in Fountain Inn and Greenville County, South Carolina, and he owned and operated "Ridiculous Rides," a body shop in Boiling Springs. (R. p.35, ll.16–17; p.43, ll.6–10; p.235, l.3 – p.236, l.4; p.237, ll.10–19).²

II. The Investigations

**As this is a search warrant case, these background investigation facts are drawn primarily from the Spartanburg County Narcotics Division's (SCND) affidavit in support of the warrant.*

A. The First Investigation: 2007-2009

In June of 2007, the SCND, during an investigation run by Investigator Chris Raymond, received information from two confidential informants that they had been buying cocaine from Appellant. (R. p.4). In 2008, an informant told the SCND that Appellant resided "at the end of River St." In January of 2009, "two more different" informants identified Appellant as a cocaine supplier. (R. p.4)

¹ At trial, the home was alternatively referred to as River "Drive" and River "Street."

² Appellant owned the body shop for approximately three years at the time of trial and he had been working on cars for approximately fifteen years. (R. p.237, l.10 – p.239, l.7).

In February of 2009, a man named Jose Luis Diaz-Arroyo was arrested while transporting a kilogram of cocaine. (R. p.4) Following his arrest, Diaz-Arroyo stated that he and his brother-in-law, Alejandro Sosa Galvan, were supplying Appellant with cocaine “at this River St.” address. (R. p.4) Apparently, this led to the Diaz-Arroyo/Sosa-Galvan case being associated with Appellant’s case and a joint federal-state task force, run primarily by Special Agent (“S/A”) Russell Davis and Inv. Raymond. (R. p.23, l.24 – p.24, l.7).

In July of 2009, Inv. Raymond had an unknown informant conduct a “controlled buy” from a man named Deangelo Young. (R. p. 5). Mr. Young, aka “Little Man,” took \$4,000 from this unknown informant, and met with Appellant at Appellant’s girlfriends’ house at *1868 Tamara Way*. (R. p. 5) Mr. Young later returned and apparently gave this unknown informant four ounces of cocaine. This transaction did not involve the River Drive Home. (*Id.*) Appellant was not arrested or charged during this first investigation.

B. The Second Investigation: 2010

In spring 2010, the SCND conducted surveillance on the River Drive Home and saw Appellant “*visit*” the River Drive Home. (R. p. 5) On May 11, 2010, the SCND bought cocaine from a man named Authur Jones. When Jones was subsequently arrested, he told the SCND that he was buying cocaine from Appellant. (*Id.*) So, the SCND convinced Jones to cooperate. (*Id.*) The following day, May 12, Jones called Appellant’s cell phone. (*Id.*) After this conversation, Appellant arrived at *Jones’ home*, took money from Jones, and left—*no drugs were exchanged*. (R. p. 5;; R. p.45, ll.1–12).

II. The Warrants

A. The Arrest Warrant

On May 13, 2010, the day after Appellant went to *Jones' home* and *did not sell him any drugs*, Inv. Raymond obtained an arrest warrant for Appellant from Spartanburg County magistrate Charles Jones.³ (R. p.86, 11.3–5; R. p.1). In his affidavit supporting the warrant application, Inv. Raymond averred that Appellant trafficked in cocaine the previous day. Thus, the magistrate signed an arrest warrant based solely upon a drug deal *that did not occur*. (R. p.26, 1.3 – p. 31, 1.2; R. p.1).

B. The Search Warrant

That same day, Inv. Raymond also applied for a warrant to search the River Drive Home. Although he applied for both warrants on the same day, Inv. Raymond sought out a different judge, Circuit Court Judge Hayes, for the search warrant. (R. pp. 2 – 5). Inv. Raymond did not present any sworn testimony. (R. p.12, 1.19 – p.13, 1.2; p.52, 11.3–4; p. 3-5). Thus, the affidavit was the only basis for the search of the River Drive Home. (R. p.51, 1.17 – p. 52, 1.5). Inv. Raymond also requested a “No Knock”⁴ warrant by summarily concluding that drug trafficking organizations are “violent.” (R. p. 5). Notably absent from this affidavit—the vast majority of which details an investigation that took place two to three years prior—is any indication as to how or why any of the informants described in the affidavit were supposedly reliable or why Inv. Raymond believed that any drugs were going to be found *in the River Drive Home*.

³ Although the arrest warrant was filed May 14, it was signed on May 13. (R. p.1; R. p.85, 1.24 – p.86, 1.5).

⁴ “No Knock” warrants are what they say they are—the officer is not required to knock before kicking down the suspect’s door.

III. May 14, 2010.

A. The Search

On May 14, 2010, officers simultaneously executed three search warrants. (R. p.7, ll.19–22). The first and second were executed at Appellant’s home at 110 Larchwood Dr. and his girlfriend’s home at 1868 Tamara Way, respectively. (R. p.7, ll.12–22). No drugs were found. (R. p.8, ll.4–9). The third was executed at his parents’ River Drive Home.⁵ A team of officers drove through the fence and swarmed the property. (R. p.107, l.19 – p.108, l.25). Upon entering the home, the officers encountered Appellant’s elderly father, handcuffed him and began their search. (R. p.109, l.6 – p.110, l.2). Eventually, the officers found cocaine and marijuana on the property. (R. p.7, l.23 – p.8, l.3; p. 160, ll. 2–12). The officers also found five weapons inside the home. (*Id.*)

B. The Arrest

While the River Drive Home search was underway *but before anything was found*, S/A Davis and Officer Joe Pharis were arresting Appellant at Ridiculous Rides. (R. p.84, l.21 – p.85, l.19; p.145, l.24 – p. 146, l.13). The arrest was made pursuant to the arrest warrant that was based solely on a drug deal that did not occur. (R. p.52, l.14 –

⁵ There was no dispute at trial that Appellant did not reside at or own the River Drive Home. Ernest Grant, the home’s owner, testified that Appellant’s mother was purchasing the home from him via a lease-to-own contract. (R. p.93, l.23 – p.96, l.25; p.101, l.21 – p.102, l.7; p.239, l.14 – p.240, l.14; pp. 346-49). And, Officer Hunter, who was part of the search team, testified that Appellant did not live there. (R. p.135, ll.18–23). Furthermore, Inv. Raymond’s arrest warrant application listed Appellant’s address as 110 Larchwood Dr. Simpsonville, SC. (R. p. 1).

p.53, l.13; p.85, ll. 3–11; p.88, l.17 – p.89, l.6). The officers transported Appellant to the River Drive Home. (R. p.86, ll.19–21).

C. The “Confession”

At the River Drive Home, S/A Davis and Inv. Raymond had Appellant sit on the tailgate of Inv. Raymond’s truck. (R. p.244, l.22 – p.245, l.3). During the course of an approximately four hour conversation, which occurred during the search, the officers revealed that they had found drugs in the garage. (R. p.245, ll.6–7; p.247, ll.2–15). When Appellant denied any knowledge of any drugs, S/A Davis and Inv. Raymond repeatedly told Appellant that they were going to arrest his parents if he did not admit they were his. (R. p.247, l.13 – p.248, l.9). Based on these threats and Appellant’s belief that his elderly father could not survive in jail, Appellant confessed both in writing and verbally to the drugs; he did not confess to owning, nor did he even mention, any weapons. (R. p.74, l.3 – p.75, l.17; R. pp. 2-5).

IV. The Federal Case⁶

In October of 2010, based on the search of the River Drive Home, a superseding federal indictment was returned, charging Appellant with conspiracy. (R. p.8, l.25 – p. 9, l.3). A civil forfeiture action was also commenced in Greenville County, where Appellant resided, to seize currency found in Appellant’s home. (R. p.9, ll.7–9). Three months later, after voluminous discovery and several motions, the U.S. Attorney’s Office dismissed Appellant’s case. (R. p.9, ll.10–13). Prosecuting assistant U.S. Attorney Mormon stated that he (Mormon) had had misgivings about the probable cause for the search of the River Drive Home from the very beginning and the discovery process had

⁶ This section is drawn from defense counsel’s background recitation to the trial court during the suppression hearing.

not changed his mind: (R. p.9, ll.14–20). Again, according to Mr. Mormon, two federal magistrates had rejected the task force officers’ attempts to obtain a federal search warrant for the River Drive Home prior to Judge Hayes issuing the state warrant, and Mormon did not believe there was probable cause for the search. (R. p.10, ll.13–18). Greenville County also withdrew their civil forfeiture action and returned Appellant’s money, indicating they could not carry their burden of proof. (R. p.11, ll.12–16).

V. The State’s Case

A. The Suppression Hearing

Following the federal dismissal, the Spartanburg County Solicitors’ Office chose to prosecute Appellant and he was ultimately indicted for trafficking cocaine 400 grams, possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.⁷ (R. p.11, ll.5–11; pp. 356-59). At a pre-trial suppression hearing, trial counsel argued that Appellant’s seizure and the subsequent search of the River Drive Home violated the Fourth Amendment, Article I, section 10 of the South Carolina constitution, and section 17-13-140 of the South Carolina Code. (R. p.20, l.4 – p. 60, l.11). During the hearing, trial counsel argued, among other things, that the search warrant affidavit: (1) provided no evidence that any of the informants were reliable or that any drugs were likely to be found at the River Drive Home; (2) was based upon extremely stale information; and (3) was filled with conclusory statements. (*Id.*) In response, the State argued, in part, that an informants’ reliability does not “ha[ve] to be corroborated” or “identified as reliable” and that the “accumulation of evidence

⁷ Appellant was also indicted for trafficking cocaine more than 200-grams but less than 400 grams and possession of a stolen weapon. (R. p.8, ll.10–15). The 200 gram charge was dismissed by a magistrate judge for lack of probable cause, and the weapon charge was *nol prossed*. (R. p.8, ll.16–21).

corroborates itself.”⁸ (R. p.47, ll.14–19). Appellant also attempted to suppress his confession. (R. p.60, l.12 – p.89, l.17). Appellant’s motions were denied. (R. p.60, ll.6–11; p.89, ll.12–16).

B. The Trial

At trial, the State did not produce a single witness who testified that Appellant owned the River Drive Home or exercised dominion and control over the property. (R. p.226, l.22 – p.229, l.20). The State also did not introduce any fingerprint or identification evidence to link Appellant to the drugs or any other item found in the River Drive Home. (*Id.*) And, the State did not demonstrate that any of the weapons were ever in Appellant’s possession. (*Id.*) As a result, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, arguing that the State had not proven constructive possession of either the drugs or weapons. (*Id.*) In response, the State argued that “[Appellant’s] own statement links him to the property in question. This is a constructive possession case, and the link is provided through the interviews, written and verbal, with the Defendant himself.” (R. p.229, l.22 – p.230, l.5). Although the trial court acknowledged that even Appellant’s “confession” did not mention any weapons, Appellant’s directed verdict motion was denied. (R. p.230, ll.6–9; p.230, l.15 – p.231, l.8).

Following Appellant’s testimony, where he again denied knowledge of the drugs and explained the officers’ threats, the jury found him guilty on all three counts. (R. p.259, ll.12–14; p.327, l. 7 – p.328, l.24). The trial court sentenced Appellant to

⁸ The State also argued that the trial court should place “great weight” on the fact that another circuit court judge, instead of a magistrate, issued the warrant. (R. p.45, ll.21–24). The State provided no support for this theory because there is none.

concurrent terms of twenty-five years', five years' and five years' imprisonment, respectively. (R. p.330, ll.5-21). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENTS

Simply put, this case involves federal and state officers anxious to make an arrest and capitalize on asset forfeiture laws. Unable to survive the exacting scrutiny of the federal system, they went in search of a more sympathetic ear. Following the search and arrest, the officers were again unable to survive federal scrutiny. They again went in search of a sympathetic forum. They found it. The U.S. and South Carolina Constitutions and section 17-13-140 of the South Carolina Code do not countenance this behavior—even when the government is sure they have their man.⁹ For several reasons, Appellant’s convictions should be reversed.

I. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant’s Motion to Suppress All Evidence Found As a Result of The Illegal Search.

Appellant’s challenge to the affidavit in support of the search warrant is brought pursuant to the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 10 of the U.S. and South Carolina Constitutions, respectively, as well as section 17-13-140 of the South Carolina Code.

A. Standard of Review

When reviewing a magistrate’s decision to issue a search warrant, the duty of the reviewing court is to ensure that the magistrate had a *substantial basis* upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). The reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate’s attention. State v. Gentile, 373 S.C. 506, 513, 646 S.E.2d 171, 174 (Ct.App. 2007).

⁹ The South Carolina Constitution and section 17-13-140 actually provide *greater* protection than the Fourth Amendment.

B. The affidavit does not pass the totality of the circumstances test.

When applying both the federal and state constitutions as well as South Carolina's search warrant statute, an appellate court reviewing the underlying affidavit must decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct.App. 2003). This review is governed by the "totality of the circumstances test." Id. For several reasons, Inv. Raymond's affidavit cannot pass this test.

i. Failure to demonstrate veracity and basis of knowledge.

Under the totality of the circumstances test, the reviewing court considers all circumstances, including status, basis of knowledge, and veracity of the informants. Id. at 685, 583 S.E.2d at 442. Veracity and basis of knowledge are treated as closely intertwined in that they may usefully illuminate the commonsense, practical question of whether there is probable cause. Id. (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 230 (1983)). In Gates, the U.S. Supreme Court explained how these factors interact:

If, for example, a particular informant is known for the unusual reliability of his predictions of certain types of criminal activities in a locality, his failure, in a particular case, to thoroughly set forth the basis of his knowledge surely should not serve as an absolute bar to a finding of probable cause based on his tip. Likewise, if an unquestionably honest citizen comes forward with a report of criminal activity—which if fabricated would subject him to criminal liability—we have found rigorous scrutiny of the basis of his knowledge unnecessary. Conversely, even if we entertain some doubt as to an informant's motives, his explicit and detailed description of alleged wrongdoing, along with a statement that the event was observed firsthand, entitles his tip to greater weight than might otherwise be the case.

Gates, 462 U.S. at 233-34. Inv. Raymond's affidavit lists a total of eleven informants. Although Inv. Raymond employed the creative tactic of labeling these individuals "Confidential **Reliable** Informants," absolutely nothing in the affidavit indicates they were actually reliable. (R. pp. 4 – 5).

a. Two Unidentified Informants¹⁰

The first two informants are not identified. According to Inv. Raymond, these two informants stated they had been buying cocaine from Poo Bear—later identified as Appellant—over the course of several months in 2007. The only evidence that was corroborated from these two informants were "vehicle descriptions and photo identifications." (R. p. 4)

b. Keith Jeter

In August of 2007, Mr. Jeter stated that he was being supplied cocaine by Appellant, who would bring cocaine to *Mr. Jeter's house*. (*Id.*)

c. Fred Meadows

In September of 2008, Mr. Meadows told the SCND that Appellant drove a Ford F-350 and supplied Mr. Meadows with cocaine at *Mr. Meadows' house*. (*Id.*)

d. Unidentified Informant

In late 2008, an unidentified informant stated Appellant lived at the "end of River St." (*Id.*)

e. "Two more different" Informants

In January of 2009, "two more different" informants stated that they purchased cocaine from Appellant and confirmed that Appellant drove a Ford F-350. (*Id.*)

¹⁰ Again, these facts are drawn directly from Inv. Raymond's affidavit, which the State conceded was the only basis for the warrant. (R. p.12, l.19 – p.13, l.2; p.52, ll.3–4).

f. Diaz-Arroyo & Sosa-Galvan

In February of 2009, Diaz-Arroyo and Sosa-Galvan were arrested with a kilogram of cocaine. Diaz-Arroyo stated he was supplying Appellant with cocaine at the River Drive Home.¹¹ (*Id.*)

g. Unidentified Informant and DeAngelo Young

In July of 2009, an unidentified informant stated he was getting cocaine from Young who, according to the unidentified informant, was being supplied by Appellant. Thus, an unidentified criminal stated that he was being supplied by another criminal who was being supplied by Appellant. This unidentified informant attempted to make a

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