ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213141

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ALPHONSO CHAVES THOMPSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARY S. WILLIAMS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 16 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

(R. pp. 2-5.)

In reviewing the information gained from five CRI's, four other informants (Jeter, Meadows, Diaz-Arroyo, and Jones), and the observations of narcotics officers, a pattern of conduct was clearly established. The information from various sources consistently pointed to similarities in dealing with Appellant, e.g. the type of vehicle he drove, Appellant's use of others' residences (Tamara Way and River Drive, belonging to a

girlfriend and his parents, respectively), deliveries made to buyers at their residences, and a price of about \$1000.00 per ounce (Jones and Little Man). As such corroborating details emerged from multiple individuals who had no connection to one another over the years, these stories appear to be more reliable. Moreover, it appears each of these nine individuals knew the information about Appellant firsthand from their own dealings with him, and the four witnesses not labeled as CRI's were under arrest and cooperating with law enforcement at the time their statements were given.⁷ State v. Driggers, 322 S.C. 506, 473 S.E.2d 57 (Ct. App. 1996)(evidence of past reliability not usually required when information is provided by an eyewitness because, unlike the paid informer, the eyewitness does not ordinarily have the opportunity to establish record of reliability); United States v. Miller, 925 F.2d 695 (4th Cir. 1991)(informant may be relied on in finding of probable cause even if affidavit is devoid of stated reasons why the police believe him or her to be reliable; where informant provided information in hope of more lenient sentence, such motivation was by itself sufficient indicator of reliability to rely on in finding probable cause); United States v. Perez, 393 F.3d 457 (4th Cir. 2004)(person being identified by name in warrant affidavit lends credence; circumstances surrounding face-to-face meeting provide indicia of credibility not found in warrant based solely on

⁷ Appellant correctly points out that the body of the does not set forth details as to past reliability of those labeled "confidential reliable informants." It stands to reason that this characterization is based on the officer's own experience. However, even considering them as other face-to-face informants, as argued above, probable cause is met in this case. State v. Peters, 271 S.C. 498, 248 S.E.2d 475 (1978)(even if there was not sufficient evidence to support the informant's credibility based upon prior dealings, where informant gave description of automobile which would contain marijuana and officer's direct observation of automobile conforming in every respect to informant's tip provided sufficient circumstances to assure reliability of the informant's information); See also State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 583 S.E.2d 437 (Ct. App. 2003)(reliability may be established by other means than by previous supply of information); State v. Hughes, 353 N.C. 200, 539 S.E.2d 625 (2000)(A tip was received from an informant known to Officer Matthews as a confidential reliable informant and passed on to other officers. The officers who obtained the warrant failed to set forth the basis for reliability, and Matthews did not testify. Court found that without more, there was not sufficient indication of reliability to use the confidential and reliable informant standard. However, even an anonymous tip can form the basis of reasonable suspicion where there are sufficient indicia of reliability or after police corroboration.)

phone call from anonymous informant); Gates, 462 U.S. at 233-34(deficiency in one of the elements may be compensated for in determining reliability, such as when informant provides detailed description and firsthand knowledge).

Further, the information contained in the warrant was not stale. In the present case, the information gathered over the course of two years showed that Appellant's criminal activity had been going on consistently for an extended period of time. See for example United States v. Reyes, 798 F.2d 380 (10th Cir. 1986)(Information of drug transactions in October 1983, January 1984, and aborted drug transaction in May 1984 not stale at time warrant was obtained in October 1984 because facts indicated ongoing activity). Investigators had personally observed Appellant stopping by River Drive prior to delivering cocaine during the six months immediately preceding issuance of the warrant. Moreover, the contact between Appellant and Jones the day before the warrant was issued supports the conclusion that drug activity was ongoing, particularly in light of the preceding two years of consistent drug dealing. Even though the deal was not completed when Jones decided he no longer wished to cooperate with law enforcement, Appellant's behavior was consistent with Jones' description of Appellant's "M.O." in drug transactions on prior occasions. Even though drugs were not exchanged in the interaction, officers observed through the recorded interaction that money was given with the understanding that Appellant would be delivering more cocaine to Jones in the coming days. Coupled with law enforcement observations of Appellant stopping by River Drive immediately before making deliveries of cocaine, there was a reasonable inference that evidence of drug activity may be seized there. Therefore, the warrant relied on Appellant's activities not only over the course of two years but also on his actions within two days of the issuance of the warrant.

The link to River Drive was also adequately established in the warrant affidavit. River Drive was mentioned in late 2008 by the third CRI. River Drive was again referenced by Diaz-Arroyo as the location where Galvan would deliver drugs to Appellant. The information from these two individuals was confirmed by investigators' observations of Appellant visiting the River Drive home before delivering cocaine in the six months prior to execution of the warrant. When the warrant was obtained, Jones had given Appellant \$9,000.00 in anticipation that cocaine would be delivered to him. Where prior information established that Appellant would receive cocaine at River Drive and stop there on his way to deliver cocaine, it was reasonable to believe that the narcotics Jones waited for would be found at River Drive.

Further, while Appellant claimed residence in Simpsonville at the time the warrant was executed, he also conceded that he regularly visited River Drive and even spent the night there on occasion. His activities there established that he was at least a sometime resident of the home and exercised the privileges of a resident in his free movement at the property.

For all these reasons, the State submits the trial judge properly declined to quash the search warrant and suppress the evidence discovered during the search of the targeted residence because the search warrant affidavit established a reliable probable cause basis to believe narcotics would be discovered at the targeted residence at the time of the search while containing no false, inaccurate, or misleading information.

B. Even if the trial court erred in finding that the search warrant affidavit sufficiently established a probable cause basis for search, the trial court properly declined any motion to suppress evidence resulting from the search because the warrant was obtained in good faith and was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that belief in and reliance on its validity was unreasonable.

Even if the search warrant was improperly issued due to some deficiency in the search warrant affidavit, suppression of the evidence recovered in the search of the targeted residence was not warranted because the warrant was obtained in good faith and was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that the law enforcement officer's belief in its validity was unreasonable. Accordingly, the trial judge properly declined to quash the search warrant and correctly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence discovered during the search of the targeted residence. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

As a preliminary matter, in a footnote, Appellant asserts in his brief that the portion of the affidavit regarding delivery to River Street by Sosa-Galvan is patently false based on an isolated portion of investigator's reports from the case where River Drive is not mentioned in chronicling an interview with Diaz-Arroyo coupled with the solicitor's assertion that Raymond would have relied on information from Davis in preparing the affidavit. (R. p. 21, line 18 – p. 24, line 25; pp. 334-337.) In the footnote, Appellant asserts that the court should consider that Raymond "was confused or, he put materially false information in the warrant application," in determining whether officers acted in good faith. However, at trial, Appellant appears to have raised this issue in support of his argument that the informants were not reliable, and Appellant did not request a hearing pursuant to Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978)("[W]here the defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was

included by the affiant in the warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires that a hearing be held at the defendant's request. In the event that at that hearing the allegation of perjury or reckless disregard is established by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence, and, with the affidavit's false material set to one side, the affidavit's remaining content is insufficient to establish probable cause, the search warrant must be voided and the fruits of the search excluded to the same extent as if probable cause was lacking on the face of the affidavit.") In fact, Appellant objected to the agent who prepared the reports being called during pre-trial motions. (R. p. 50, line 17 – p. 52, line 2.) The court seems to have understood that the DEA-6 forms were not being offered only to “assist the court in understanding the facts of the affidavit and how that ought to be interpreted and that sort of thing.” (R. p. 51, line 17 – p. 52, line 2.) Therefore, to the extent that Appellant argues that this evidence is somehow probative of a lack of good faith on the part of officers, the issue is not preserved. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005)(The argument advanced on appeal was not raised and ruled on below and therefore was not preserved for review).

Even if the search warrant affidavit in Appellant's case did not sufficiently establish the confidential informant's reliability or the timeliness of the information justifying the search, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered as a result of the search because Raymond acted in good faith in obtaining the search warrant and acted in objectively reasonable reliance on the issuing judge's probable cause determination in conducting the search. See U.S. v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 922 (1984) (“[T]he marginal or nonexistent benefits produced by suppressing evidence obtained in objectively reasonable reliance on a subsequently invalidated search warrant

cannot justify the substantial costs of exclusion."). Critically, Raymond complied with the statutory warrant requirements in obtaining the search warrant and included information in the search warrant affidavit establishing a pattern of conduct observed for two years, culminating in an attempted purchase days before the warrant was obtained.⁸ Under those circumstances, even if the issuing judge erred in determining the search warrant affidavit was sufficient to establish probable cause, the affidavit was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that it was entirely unreasonable for officers to rely on the warrant after it was issued. State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801 (1997)(recognizing that application of the good-faith exception is not prohibited simply because a search warrant was deficient in some respect); see also Leon, 468 U.S. at 918-921 ("[S]uppression of evidence obtained pursuant to a warrant should be ordered only on a case-by-case basis and only in those unusual cases in which exclusion will further the purposes of the exclusionary rule. . . . Penalizing the officer for the [issuing judge]'s error, rather than his own, cannot logically contribute to the deterrence of Fourth Amendment violations.") Accordingly, as officers did not act unreasonably in relying on the search warrant, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered in the search of the targeted residence. See Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 806, 104 S. Ct. 3380, 82 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1984)("By its terms, the Fourth Amendment forbids only 'unreasonable' searches and seizures.").

Based on the foregoing, even if the search warrant should not have been issued due to some deficiency in regard to the search warrant affidavit, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence recovered during the search because the affidavit was

⁸ Notably, the transaction was not completed when the informant, Jones, refused to continue his cooperation. However, Jones had delivered money to Appellant and expected cocaine to be delivered the following day.

not so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render reliance upon the search warrant entirely unreasonable.

II.

The trial court properly admitted Appellant's oral and written confessions in which he admits that the narcotics found at the River Drive home belonged to him. Appellant's contention that his confession was the fruit of an unlawful arrest is not preserved for review. Nonetheless, Appellant's confession was neither the result of an unlawful arrest nor coercion.

Appellant was tried for narcotics and weapons found at River Drive. He was arrested for a transaction involving an informant on May 12, 2010. Appellant argues that his confession should have been suppressed because (1) it was the fruit of an unlawful arrest pursuant to the warrant describing his activity on May 12, 2010 and (2) his confession was involuntary.

A. Appellant's contention that his confession should have been suppressed as the fruit of an unlawful arrest is not preserved for review. Even if the issue was preserved, it would be without merit.

While Appellant elicited testimony during the Jackson v. Denno⁹ hearing regarding the arrest warrant, he made no argument that his confession was the fruit of an unlawful arrest. Further, there is no indication that the trial court understood that the confession was objected to as the fruit of an unlawful arrest. Following the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the trial court stated simply, "I find based upon the testimony presented the state has established by the greater weight of the evidence that the statement given by the defendant was freely and voluntarily made; and therefore the motion to exclude is denied." (R. p. 89, lines 12-16.)

⁹ Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S. Ct. 1774, 12 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1964) (Fourteenth Amendment forbids use of involuntary confession; defendant objecting to admission of confession is entitled to fair hearing in which both underlying factual issues and voluntariness of confession are actually and reliably determined).

Counsel then discussed “other motions,” expressing concern under Lyle¹⁰ that the transaction involving Jones not be mentioned during trial. (R. p. 89, lines 18-22.) The solicitor responded that he would not be mentioning the prior events absent the defense challenging the arrest warrant as defective. (R. p. 89, line 23 – p. 92, line 4.) No additional comment was made from the defense indicating that the arrest warrant was being challenged.

Further, when the confession was admitted, Appellant objected to the confession “on the grounds that the *search* was improper and without probable cause, and because the statement made was made not voluntarily and freely by [Appellant] but subject to coercion and threats.” [Emphasis supplied.] (R. p. 216, line 23 – p. 217, line 2.) Based on all the foregoing, Appellant’s objection was based on the confession as fruit of an improper search warrant, not fruit of an improper arrest warrant. “In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. ...A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 - 694 (2003).

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